ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
SENATE STATE AFFAI RS STANDI NG COWM TTEE
January 24, 2008
9:05 a.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Senator Lesil McQuire, Chair
Senator Hollis French
Senator Lyda Green

Senat or Con Bunde

MEMBERS ABSENT
Senat or Gary Stevens, Vice Chair
COW TTEE CALENDAR

SENATE BI LL NO 223
"An Act providing for and relating to the issuance of general
obligation bonds for the purpose of paying the cost of a
scientific crinme detection |aboratory; and providing for an
effective date.”

HEARD AND HELD

HOUSE BI LL NO. 101
"An Act relating to uniformtraffic | aws."
SCHEDULED BUT NOT HEARD

PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: SB 223

SHORT TITLE: G O. BONDS FOR CRI ME LAB
SPONSOR(S): RULES BY REQUEST OF THE GOVERNOR

01/ 16/ 08 (S) READ THE FI RST Tl ME - REFERRALS
01/ 16/ 08 (S) STA, FIN
01/ 24/ 08 (S) STA AT 9: 00 AM BELTZ 211

W TNESS REQ STER

JOHN GLASS, Deputy Comm ssi oner

Department of Public Safety

Anchor age, AK

PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Advocated for a new crine |lab via SB 223.

JAMES M (MATT) TANAKA, Crinme Lab Project Manager

SENATE STA COW TTEE -1- January 24, 2008



Al aska Departnent of Transportation and Public Facilities
Anchor age, AK
PCSI TI ON STATEMENT: Answered questions about SB 223.

BRI AN ANDREWS, Deputy Conmi ssioner

Departnent of Revenue (DOR)

Juneau, AK

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Answered finance questi ons about SB 223.

DEVON M TCHELL, Debt Manager

Depart ment of Revenue (DOR)

Juneau, AK

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: Answer ed finance questions about SB 223.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE
CHAIR LESIL MCQU RE called the Senate State Affairs Standing

Commttee neeting to order at 9:05:25 AM Senators G een,
French, Bunde, and McCGuire were present at the call to order.

SB 223-G O. BONDS FOR CRI ME LAB
CHAI R MCAUI RE announced the consi derati on of SB 223.

9: 06: 07 AM

JOHN GLASS, Deputy Conmm ssioner, Departnent of Public Safety,
Anchorage, said Alaska's current crine lab was built in 1986 for
6 scientists and support staff. Currently there are 41 workers.
The lab is conpressed and woefully Jlacking in room for
scientists and for storage. In 2006, the |egislature provided
$4.9 nmillion to study a new location, and a 15.3-acre plot was
found on Tudor Road in Anchorage. Contract negotiations for that
acreage are ongoing. The bill calls for an 83, 000-square-foot
buil ding. Only 50,000 square feet is needed today, but M. d ass
wants a building that can last 40 years and is able to house
what ever future science the state needs.

MR. GLASS said the lab is designed to allow future expansion.
The current crime |lab cannot be expanded and is inadequate for
nodern forensic tests. The lab services all nunicipalities in
Al aska and the state troopers. He showed photos of it.

9:11: 44 AM

MR. GLASS said the |lab’s freezers cane from a surplus sale. The
lab receives about 1,000 DNA sanples per nonth. There is a
garage for processing large itens like vehicles, but it is full

SENATE STA COWM TTEE - 2- January 24, 2008



of other things. There are five DNA analysts. He pointed out
that contami nation is a key issue.

9:14: 31 AM
SENATOR BUNDE said a colleague told him that it would be nore
econom cal to expand the current | ab.

MR. GLASS said the present foot print of the |ab does not allow
for expansion. The ventilation system is inadequate for the
tests the lab is doing. The building is hot, and noxious funes
are a hazard. It is a secure facility so the w ndows cannot be
opened. He showed a map and design of the new | ocati on.

9:16: 57 AM
SENATOR FRENCH asked where the new lab will be built and what
the plan is for the old building.

MR. GLASS said the new lab will be near the Anchorage Police
Departnment and across from the Al aska Native Hospital. The
departnment would like to turn the old lab into office space. The
Tudor Road headquarters needs space. He wants to put the ABC
board, sexual offender registration, “I1.T. people,” and one
investigative group in the old |ab. There will be an increase in
foot traffic because of the new sexual offender law. It is a
secure building, so it will be suitable for that.

9:18: 54 AM

SENATOR FRENCH said the current needs are for 50,000 square
feet, and the building will be 83,000 square feet. He expressed
concern that $100 mllion is a lot of noney, even though he
wants the state to have every resource it needs to fight crine.
Hi s high school needs help; other entities need noney. He asked
what the plan is for the extra space.

MR. GLASS said he doesn’'t know what wll be done with that
space. He wants to have room for expansion. It is a lot of
noney, but he wants sonmething to last 40 years and to be
prepared for new science. "I would rather build for the future
than be in the situation we are today."

9:21:29 AM

JAMES M (MATT) TANAKA, Crinme Lab Project Manager, Al aska
Department of Transportation and Public Facilities, Anchorage,
said a nationally-recognized expert reviewed the forensic needs

of the state. The 83,000 square feet wll accompbdate those
needs through 2020. It wll take four years to finish the
project. Designing for the current need wll be inadequate by

SENATE STA COW TTEE - 3- January 24, 2008



the time the building is ready. He is basing the $100 mllion on
ot her new | abs, including Al aska’s health | ab and virol ogy |ab.

9:23: 48 AM

SENATOR FRENCH said M. Tanaka is his ski buddy. He surm sed
that the building would be designed to be able to add a | ayer.
He asked how nmany fl oors can be added if needed.

MR. TANAKA said over two stories is not allowed on the south
side of Tudor Road. At the new site, the building can be
expanded laterally. It wll be oriented to do that. It is sized
for 2020 and can be enlarged later. The new building cannot go
above two stories.

9:26: 23 AM

SENATOR BUNDE said he has simlar concerns, and he questioned
the success of bonds in Anchorage. He asked if construction can
be done in stages or if it is an all-or-nothing proposition.

MR. TANAKA said it is possible, but in this case it would not be

economc. It will cost nmuch nore to split the project into two
phases because it needs to be laid out programmtically. To add
on would be inefficient. It would be like adding a bedroom to

the other side of your garage. It is sized for the year 2020.

SENATOR BUNDE surm sed the 50,000-foot |ab would be adequate for
the near future, and 80,000 square feet would be needed in 2020.

9:29: 01 AM
MR. TANAKA said by the tinme it is conplete in 2012, 50,000
square feet wll nearly be inadequate. It would be fully

consuned over the remaining 12 years of its life.

SENATOR BUNDE suggested he refer to the footprint that the |ab
will need when it noves in, not what is needed today, in order
to not give the inpression that the building is excessive.

9:30: 07 AM

SENATOR GREEN said she assunmes the building includes all
equi pnent, which would be nore expensive than building an
of fice. Much of the $100 million will go into the equipnent.

MR. TANAKA said that is true. This is the third lab that he has
managed. Labs are inherently expensive, especially a public
safety lab, which is nechanically and architecturally conpl ex.

9:32: 13 AM

SENATE STA COW TTEE -4- January 24, 2008



CHAIR MCGU RE said the retired troopers put on a very popul ar
DNA information session for the public. She asked if the lab
wi |l have teaching space for the staff and the public. Educating
the community on how | aw enforcenent solves crinme is good.

MR. TANAKA said there is a lab classroom As the building is
expanded, there are opportunities to accommodat e.

MR. GLASS said there is a classroom in the present lab for
teaching law enforcenent officers about toxicology and breath
sanpl es, for exanple. There is one in the new plan, too.

9: 34: 32 AM
CHAI R MCGUI RE asked for maps and plans for the commttee.

SENATOR FRENCH wants to know why bonding is proposed instead of
usi ng general funds.

CHAIR MCGQUIRE said the conmittee supports the crine |ab and has
gotten nore technicians for it. She is “hoping to get that DNA
backlog as a result of the DNA expansion that Senator Bunde and
ot hers have worked on.” She hopes the voters support the |ab.

9:36: 31 AM
SENATOR BUNDE said he doesn’t have a |ot of confidence that the
voters will pass this, and he asked about a backup plan if the

bonds do not pass.

MR. GLASS said he doesn’'t have a backup, but a delay will add
about $10 nmillion per year. The public needs to be convinced
that the lab is needed for the benefit of the citizens.

SENATOR BUNDE said he wants an adequate crinme |ab. He encouraged
himto think about doing it in stages. “If that doesn’t work --
and | know that it will cost nore in the future — we probably
shoul d then have sonme thoughts about stepping up and doing it
out of [general funds].”

9:38:31 AM

CHAIR MCGQUI RE said that would be good to think about. Sonething
bad m ght happen, “because |’'ve been over to the crinme |lab and
it’s just overwhelmng ...the lack of space that you have and the
kinds of things you're trying to do.” The tinme is now. Voters
can be conservative. Schools in need were voted down, she said.

MR. GLASS said the lab director is educating the public. Things
like the “CSI” canps for children help sell the |ab.

SENATE STA COW TTEE - 5- January 24, 2008



9:40: 11 AM

BRI AN ANDREWS, Deputy Conm ssioner, Departnent of Revenue (DOR),
said it is the lowest interest environment in 20 years. A
general obligation bond would have an interest structure of 4.5
to 5.2 percent -- very low. The rates may even decline. A bond
will be cheap, but there are no costs associated with taking the
noney from the general fund. However, the state has about $8.6
billion in liability from the pension fund with a cost of 8.25
percent, “so you mght take that $100 mllion and ... pay down
t hat higher expense.” Although it is an allusive figure, the
state debt probably won’t affect the state credit rating.

9:42:40 AM

SENATOR BUNDE said he wants a crinme lab, but many people in his
district won't go into debt if they have the cash. The |ong-
range interest rate may decline in a recession, but investnent
income nmay also go down, so it may bal ance each other. He asked
what it would take to get a net zero in long-term investment -
“how nmuch noney would we have to have invested at what rate so
that the bonding is a wise thing to do that actually doesn’t
cost the state noney,” and m ght even earn sone.

MR. ANDREWS said that is difficult to say. But, for exanple,
with $100 mllion invested, “historically, on average, we’ve
made about 9.25/9.5 percent off the retirement system?”
Retirement systens are invested conservatively. “Depending on
the risk profile of the portfolio that we would look to ...to
arbitrate out the cost of the debt, naybe $75 mllion” over the
same 30-year period. It depends on earnings results, which is
difficult to speak to.

SENATOR BUNDE suggested that if the state was just beginning the
project |ast week, “we would probably be discouraged.”

MR. ANDREWS said, “That’s absolutely correct.”

9:45: 32 AM
SENATOR FRENCH asked about the | evel of indebtedness now.

DEVON M TCHELL, Debt Manager, Departnment of Revenue, said the
state has about [$350] mllion in bonds now. The state hasn’'t
used general obligation bonds much; the |ast issuance prior to
2003 was 1983.

SENATOR BUNDE said the crinme lab is inportant. The bond wl
work for the public if the legislature puts “enough noney away

SENATE STA COW TTEE - 6- January 24, 2008



and leaves it there.” He said the guarantee can’t be nade
constitutionally, but “we can agree to do this; it wll ... put
this noney away for 30 years.” A future |legislature can use the
noney and the state is on the hook for all the debt service.

SENATOR BUNDE proposed Anmendnent 1, |abeled 25-GS2043\ A 1, Cook,
as follows:

Page 3, line 21:

Delete all material and insert:
“*Sec. 8. This Act takes effect on the effective date
of an Act enacted by the Twenty-Fifth Al aska State
Legi sl ature that appropriates at |east $100, 000,000 to
the budget reserve fund (art. I X, sec. 17,
Constitution of the State of Alaska).”

SENATOR BUNDE said it would let the public know that there is
noney put away, at least initially. The public would know “we
were serious about this, that we aren’'t going to bond and then
say, ‘Ch King's X,” we're going to spend all that noney anyway.”

9:48: 01 AM
MR MTCHELL said he hasn’'t seen the anmendnent but cautioned
that there are internal codes that prohibit “transferred

proceeds, where you take noney and invest it in a taxable type
of vehicle while it is pledged to the repaynent of the bonds.”
It’s OK to make a deposit into the CBRF [Constitutional Budget
Reserve Fund], for exanple, and available for investnent and
ot her purposes such as paying for some or all of the debt
service. One has to be careful, he said.

SENATOR BUNDE said the anendnent calls for a deposit into the
CBRF that is available for appropriation, but with strong intent
| anguage that the legislature is serious about making this
i nvestment pay. It nmakes bonding a | ogical way to go.

CHAI R MCGUI RE asked for an opinion on the anmendnent.

9:49: 32 AM
MR. M TCHELL suggested advice fromthe state’s bond counsel.

SENATOR FRENCH said he would want |egal advice. “Wre al
committed to saving a bunch of noney this session.” Mich nore
than that will likely be deposited in the CBRF. He agrees that
money shoul d be put away, but it will be done nore gl obally.

9:50: 20 AM

SENATE STA COW TTEE -7- January 24, 2008



SENATOR BUNDE sai d he can hold back on his anendnent.

CHAIR MCGQU RE said she wanted to npbve SB 223 to the finance
committee, but she’'ll hold it so DOR can | ook at the anendnent.

SENATOR BUNDE said he hopes the state will be saving on a nore
gl obal basis, but if this mechanism was attached to the bill and
it goes out to the public, it wll strengthen its passage.

CHAIR MCGQUI RE said there is general trepidation about finances
t hroughout Al aska -- and the nation. But there is a surplus in
t he budget because of high oil prices. There is confusion and
nervousness by voters about the future and commtting the
state’s resources with a bond, instead of wusing the surplus
noney. People will be able to understand what Senator Bunde is
suggesting. She asked what the interest rate is on the $350
mllion of current general obligation bond debt.

9:52: 44 AM

MR. M TCHELL said it is 2003 debt, so there were two series of
bonds, one for transportation, “which was Garvey-eligible, so we
can use federal highway funds to pay a portion of the debt
service.” There was also accelerated transportation for state
projects at $102 mllion. There were educational projects, and
those interest rates had a substantial premum that was used to
pay debt service, “so they have a coupon that is a little bit

higher — it mght be around 5 percent,” but the actual interest
the state is paying is less because it received about $30
mllion over the par anount of the bonds when they were sold.
9:53:42 AM

SENATOR GREEN asked about the start tinme for the lab with the
two funding nmechanisns. “What is the lag tine with G O bonds?”

MR MTCHELL said the biggest obstacle is the election in
Novenber, and then it takes tinme to put the legal and financia
docunents together. The noney wouldn’t be available until 2009,
at the earliest, but sone work can nove ahead after a yes vote.

SENATOR GREEN said that it could take over a year, and by using
the general fund, it would have an imedi ate effective date.

MR MTCHELL said that can be addressed if general funds are
used for design and planning. It nmakes a | ot of sense wi th bonds
because there are wndows to spend tax-exenpt bond proceeds
within — typically three years. The design process is lengthy to
ensure the right thing is built. He said he has dealt wth

SENATE STA COW TTEE - 8- January 24, 2008



trying to conpress those schedules and get the nobney spent in
that three-year window. It nakes sense to have an investnent and
t hen borrow noney to fulfill the obligations.

9: 55: 52 AM

SENATOR FRENCH asked what anount of noney is needed to get the
project started in the sumrer of 2009, and how that would be
split out from the bond noney, “with the contingency that you
don’'t spend the noney that we appropriate for 2009 if the bond
fails.” Then the legislature can nake a decision on how nuch
faith it has in the voters in the election that foll ows.

SENATOR BUNDE said a delay will cost $10 million.

CHAI R MCQUI RE said the anmendnent has not been formally offered,
and SB 223 will be set aside.

The neeting was adjourned at 9:57:20 AM

SENATE STA COW TTEE -9- January 24, 2008



